IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD DEAN

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

.

ı.

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01793

KATIE C. SLADE, L. GUY JACKSON JEAN DEAN, and FLORA S. NICHOLS RAGAN

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

PEPPER A. PEARSON, ESQ. Attorney for the Appellant Page, Mannino, Peresich & McDermott 2408 14th Street Gulfport, MS 39501-2019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD DEAN

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-01793

KATIE C. SLADE, L. GUY JACKSON JEAN DEAN, and FLORA S. NICHOLS RAGAN

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION THAT RICHARD DEAN DID NOT GAIN TITLE TO THE SUBJECT PROPERTY BY ADVERSE POSSESSION WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND THE RESULT OF APPLICATION OF AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD.
 - 1. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN FAILED TO POSSESS THE PROPERTY UNDER A CLAIM OF OWNERSHIP
 - 2. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN'S POSSESSION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY WAS NOT HOSTILE, AND THAT THE DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES WERE NOT AWARE OF SAID POSSESSION
 - 3. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN'S POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY WAS NOT OPEN NOTORIOUS AND VISIBLE
 - 4. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN HAD NOT EXERCISED HOSTILE POSSESSION THAT WAS OPEN, NOTORIOUS, AND VISIBLE CONTINUOUSLY FOR THE REQUISITE TEN (10) YEARS
 - 5. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN'S CONTACT WITH CERTAIN DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES NEGATED HIS EXCLUSIVE POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY
 - 6. THE CHANCELLOR ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT RICHARD DEAN'S PEACEFUL POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY WAS INTERRUPTED BY DEFENDANT/APPELLEE KATIE C. SLADE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff/Appellant Richard Dean initiated this action for adverse possession in the Chancery Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, on May 25, 2006. The property at issue is approximately eighty (80) unimproved acres in Vancleave, Mississippi. As has been stated throughout the pleadings in this matter, the subject property was previously titled to siblings, Fannie Louise Voitier, Audury M. Nichols, and Garland L. Cox. (See Trans. at 28) The Defendant Katie C. Slade claims an interest in the subject property by the deed of from Eloise Cox, attorney-in-fact for Garland L. Cox. Id. The Defendant L. Guy Jackson claims an ownership interest through his mother Audury M. Nichols. Id. The Defendant Flora S. Nichols Ragan claims an ownership interest through William David Nichols, widower and heir of Audury M. Nichols. Id. Richard Dean, as asserted in his Complaint from the lower court, believed that the warranty deed vesting title in Fannie Louise Voitier, Audury M. Nichols, and Garland L. Cox vested as joint tenants with rights of survivorship, and not as tentants in common. Therefore, Richard Dean believed that his grandmother Fannie Louise Voitier, as last surviving of the three siblings, was the sole title holder to the subject property. Further, Richard Dean believed he received title to the land through the parol gift of his grandmother Fannie Louise Voitier.

From approximately 1993 until the time of filing of the Complaint for adverse possession, Richard Dean has erected fences, posted signs, paid property taxes, informed adjacent owners of his ownership interest in the property, and asserted his ownership interest to the property to the Defendants/Appellees in this matter. During the course of this litigation, the Defendants/Appellees failed to conduct any discovery other than the deposition of the Plaintiff. The Defendants/Appellees did not propound Interrogatories, Requests for Production, or Requests for Admission as allowed by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Therefore, the evidence applicable in this matter is almost exclusively drawn from the exhibits and testimony presented at trial.

Throughout the trial of this matter, Richard Dean testified to his belief that he owned the subject property, and to his actions supporting said belief. Further, as testimony presented at trial shows, the Defendants/Appellees were cognizant of Mr. Dean's claim of ownership and the actions he took in accordance with that belief. Additionally, Defendant Jan Dean, who declined to participate in the trial of this matter, submitted a letter subsequent to trial expressing her belief that the subject property was titled to the Plaintiff through the parol gift of his grandmother and his adverse possession. (Rec. at 104-105).

Prior to trial on this matter, on March 5, 2009, the certain Defendants/Appellees submitted their trial brief to the Chancellor. Said trial brief was not submitted to Plaintiff until after the conclusion of the trial. Upon discovery of the submission of the Defendants' Trial Brief, counsel for the Plaintiff/Appellant Richard Dean filed of record the Trial Brief with the Chancery Court Clerk. On March 17th, 2009, the Chancellor entered her order in the trial of this matter. (Rec. at 27-40). Despite the evidence presented to the contrary, the Chancellor of the lower court ruled that Richard Dean had failed to prove his ownership interest by adverse possession. Further, the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the Chancellor contain numerous factual discrepancies and provisions that are contrary to the evidence presented at trial. Based upon these factual discrepancies and misstatements of the evidence presented at trial, the Order of the Chancellor should be overturned.

Subsequently, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Motion for New Trial or JNOV on April 3, 2009. (Rec. at 53-94). Per order of the Court, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Brief in Support of his Motion for New Trial or JNOV in lieu of oral argument on July 10, 2009. (Rec. at 109-186). As a

part of his Brief, the Plaintiff/Appellant discussed the misinterpretation of both law and fact that were a part of the Chancellor's Final Order and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Many of these misinterpretations were drawn directly from the Trial Brief of the Defendants/Appellees, and in direct contradiction of the testimony and evidence presented at trial. Despite the plea of the Plaintiff/Appellant, the Chancellor denied the Motion for New Trial or JNOV by Order filed on October 5, 2009. (Rec. at 242). The Chancellor ignored both the applicable evidence and law in this matter by ruling that Richard Dean's contact with the Defendants/Appellees negated his exclusive possession of the property, and her decision should be overturned.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The law of this State is well established that for possession to be adverse it must be (1) under claim of ownership; (2) actual or hostile; (3) open, notorious, and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful." *Apperson v. White*, 950 So. 2d 1113, 1116 (Miss. App. 2007); citing *Walker v. Murphree*, 722 So.2d 1277, 1281 (P16) (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). Further, the ruling of a Chancellor in an adverse possession case must be overruled if it shown that the decision was not supported by substantial evidence, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Id.*, citing *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So. 2d 623, 625-26 (Miss. 2002). The Chancellor in this matter not only ignored the testimony and evidence at trial, but also applied erroneous legal standards to the evidence and testimony presented.

The decision of the Chancellor states that the erecting of a fence and payment of property taxes was insufficient evidence to support a claim of adverse possession. (Rec. at 180-181). However, this assertion ignores all other evidence presented by Richard Dean during the trial of this matter, including the testimony of Richard Dean and Katie C. Slade. Further, the Chancellor ignores and misinterprets the case law applicable to this matter.

The Chancellor of the lower court relied upon the testimony of Katie C. Slade that she did not see the signs posted by Richard Dean on the property as proof that his possession of the property was not hostile. (Rec. at 33). However, the Chancellor fails to acknowledge the importance of the stipulated testimony of signs being posted, or question the obvious credibility issues that existed with the testimony of Katie C. Slade in this matter. Further, the Chancellor fails to acknowledge that L. Guy Jackson failed to even visit the subject property even though he was on notice of Richard Dean's claim of sole ownership. The Mississippi Legislature enacted the adverse possession statute

5

to resolve the problem of inattentive landowners such as L. Guy Jackson. <u>See Buford v. Logue</u>, 832 So. 2d 594, 601 (Miss. App. 2002). Further, the Chancellor of the lower court relied upon the testimony of Katie C. Slade that she informed Richard Dean that she believed she had an interest in the property for the proposition that his possession was not hostile. (Rec. at 33). However, there are multiple hostile acts by Richard Dean, including repeatedly informing the Defendants/Appellees that he believed he was sole owner of the subject property, payment of taxes, and holding out the property as his own to the public at large. Further, as noted in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Chancellor, the Defendants/Appellees filed a partition suit and informed Richard Dean that they did not believe he had sole title to the property (Rec. at 28, 34). This partition suit was clear evidence of the Defendants'/Appellees' knowledge of Richard Dean's adverse claim.

A claimant of title to real property by adverse possession must show that his possession of the land was open and notorious. *Broadus v. Hickman*, 210 Miss. 885, 50 So. 2d 717 (Miss. 1951). Mississippi case law has established the rule that less notorious and obvious acts are necessary to vest title in what are known as wild lands than lands suitable to occupy as by residency or for husbandry and farming. *Broadus*, 50 So. at 717. Despite admissions from all parties that the subject property was "wild lands", the Chancellor failed to apply the appropriate standard. Further, the Chancellor ignored testimony and evidence regarding Richard Dean granted permission to use the property to third parties, received and refused offers to purchase the property, erected fences, and posted signs. Further, the Chancellor ruled that Katie C. Slade and L. Guy Jackson testified that there had been no substantial changes to the property in their lifetime. (Rec. at 34). However, this ignores the testimony of L. Guy Jackson that he had only visited the property once in his lifetime. (Trans. at 65, 71).

In the Chancellor's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, she concludes that the evidence was insufficient to show that the Plaintiff exercised actual or hostile possession that was open, notorious and visible or continuous for a ten (10) year period. (Rec. at 35). This finding is based upon the Chancellor's conclusion that Richard Dean received tax notices from 1997 to 2005, and that he intentionally failed to pay the taxes in 2002 and 2003 to avoid a costly probate action as to his grandmother's estate. (Rec. at 35). However, a review of the exhibits presented at trial reveal that Richard Dean actually at the very least was receiving tax notices in 1995. (Trial Exhibit 10). Further, Katie C. Slade admits that she did not redeem the taxes until 2005 (Trans. at 99). Subsequent to Ms. Slade's attempt at redemption, Richard Dean paid the taxes for all delinquent years. This presents clear and un-controverted evidence that Richard Dean paid the taxes on and received tax notices for the property without interruption for more than ten (10) years. Further, the Chancellor fails to recognize the testimony of L. Guy Jackson testified that as early as 1992, Richard Dean had told him he owned the property. (Trans. at 66). The Chancellor also ignored the testimony of Katie C. Slade regarding Richard Dean informed her that he believed he owned the property during a discussion about an agent from Vancleave Real Estate approaching her about selling the subject property. (Trans. at 94).

In the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Chancellor she states that Richard Dean contacted Katie C. Slade and L. Guy Jackson to discuss his purchase of their share of the property (Rec. at 36-37). However, as the trial testimony reveals, Richard Dean stated to these two Defendants/Appellees that he would not purchase their interest in the subject property because he was the sole title holder to the subject property. Further, the evidence reveals that any discussion regarding payment to the Defendants/Appellees by Richard Dean was to his paying a nuisance settlement value to avoid costly litigation. In addition to the factual misrepresentations, the Chancellor's reliance and interpretation of *Nosser v. Buford*, 852 So. 2d 57 (Miss. App. 2002), is inaccurate and erroneous. The Chancellor ignored both the applicable evidence and law in this matter by ruling that Richard Dean's contact with the Defendants/Appellees negated his exclusive possession of the property, and her decision should be overturned.

The Chancellor ruled in her Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that Richard Dean's peaceful possession of the property was interrupted by the payment of taxes in arrears by Katie T. Slade. (Rec. at 37). However, Richard Dean has been paying taxes at least since 1995, and both L. Guy Jackson and Katie C. Slade were on notice as to Richard Dean, s claim of ownership by 1994 at the very latest. In order for peaceful possession to be interrupted, there must be more than mere words by the parties attempting to reclaim their property. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "There must be either a suit during the time before the expiration of the ten-year period or there must be a physical interruption of the adverse possession, or some unequivocal asserting of the claimant's rights...". *McSwain v. B. M. Stevens Company*, 247 So. 2d 707, 709 (Miss. 1971). The actions of the Defendants/Appellees were entirely insufficient to interrupt the peaceful possession of Richard Dean.

Taking the cumulative errors of the Chancellor as to facts and law applicable in this matter, it is clear that her decision was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous. Therefore, the decision of the Chancellor must be overturned, and Richard Dean must receive absolute title to the property by adverse possession.

8

ARGUMENT

The law of this State is well established that for possession to be adverse it must be (1) under claim of ownership; (2) actual or hostile; (3) open, notorious, and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful." *Apperson v. White*, 950 So. 2d 1113, 1116 (Miss. App. 2007); citing *Walker v. Murphree*, 722 So.2d 1277, 1281 (P16) (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). The appellate court must look to the evidence and determine "whether or not the statement of facts justify the decree." *Buford v. Logue*, 832 So. 2d 594, 600 (Miss. App. 2002). Further, the ruling of a Chancellor in an adverse possession case must be overruled if it shown that the decision was not supported by substantial evidence, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Id.*, citing *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So. 2d 623, 625-26 (Miss. 2002).

1. <u>The Chancellor Erroneously Concluded that Richard Dean Failed to Possess</u> <u>the Property Under a Claim of Ownership</u>

The decision of the Chancellor states that the erecting of a fence and payment of property taxes was insufficient evidence to support a claim of adverse possession. (Rec. at 180-181). However, this assertion ignores all other evidence presented by Richard Dean during the trial of this matter. Specifically, testimony was provided that Richard Dean received title to the subject property by the parol gift of his grandmother, Fannie Louis Voitier. (Trans. at 12). Further, Katie C. Slade testified to Richard Dean's assertion of his ownership from his grandmother's parol gift. Katie C. Slade testified that

- Q. How did he represent himself insofar as the property was concerned? was he calling on behalf of his mother or himself, or do you recall?
- A. You know, I am trying to think. You know, I don't know that I recall him saying per se. I don't think he said I have a deed. But I think that he said that he had his grandmother's interest. I think that's how he put it to me, something like that.

(Trans at 92). Although Defendants/Appellees Katie C. Slade and L. Guy Jackson both testified at trial, neither presented evidence or testimony to contradict the fact that Richard Dean believed he had received title through the parol gift of his grandmother.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that a parol gift accompanied by possession of the land for ten years confers perfect title by adverse possession. *Chatman v. Carter*, 209 Miss. 16, 45 So. 2d 841 (Miss. 1950); *Davis v. Davis*, 68 Miss. 478, 10 So. 70 (Miss. 1891). Further, paying of taxes, while not conclusive, is a factor evidencing possession and claim of ownership. *Buford v. Logue*, 832 So. 2d 594, 602 (Miss. App. 2002). In her Final Order, the Chancellor cites to *Snowden* & *McSweeny Co. v. Hanley*, 16 So. 2d 24, 25 (Miss. 1943), as authority for the assertion that a fence alone is insufficient to sustain a claim of adverse possession. (Rec. at 32). However, the Court in

Snowden states that

Our statute, Section 2287, Code 1930, does not require an inclosure as an essential to adverse possession, and that our reported decisions do not so require is definitely disclosed by *Sproule v. Alabama, etc., R. Co.,* 78 Miss. 88, 29 So. 163. A hedge-row, was held to be sufficient in *Jones v. Gaddis*, 67 Miss. 761, 7 So. 489. When a fence, or a hedge-row, or the like, is relied upon to delineate the boundaries of the adverse claim the applicable rule is expressed in the latest text on the subject, 1 Am. Jur., p. 870, wherein it is said that "the question in such cases is whether the inclosure, like other acts of possession, is sufficient to fly the flag over the land and put the true owner upon notice...

Snowden, 16 So. 2d at 25. As is clearly shown by the quote above, the Court in Snowden admits that a fence or hedge-row is sufficient, so long as it is sufficient to put the owner on notice of the adverse claim. The Court in Snowden went on to conclude that, if the fence was not of such a character to rely solely on its construction and maintenance to prove adverse possession, then it must be considered with other factors presented. *Id.* at 687. Further, it must be distinguished that the claim for adverse possession in the Snowden matter was in the nature of a boundary dispute. *Id.* The Chancellor clearly misinterpreted and misapplied the findings of the Court in Snowden.

Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "If a fence encloses the property for ten years, under a claim of adverse possession, title vests in the claimant and possessor, even though the fence was subsequently removed or fell into disrepair." *Cole v. Burleson*, 375 So. 2d 1046 (Miss. 1979); see also *Burnsed v. Merritt*, 829 So. 2d 716 (Miss. App. 2002). In this matter, Richard Dean not only erected, repaired, and maintained the fence that was the traditional and accepted boundary of the property, but also posted signs notifying the public at large of his ownership. This is evident by the receipts entered into evidence showing the materials purchased by Richard Dean to maintain the fence. (Exhibit 10).

The Chancellor also cites to *Apperson*, 950 So. 2d 1113, 1116 (Miss. App. 2007), for the proposition that "payment of property taxes is not conclusive of ownership. However, she fails to recognize that payment of taxes is considered as a factor in proof of ownership. *Buford v. Logue*, 832 So. 2d 594 (Miss. App. 2002). Further, the cumulative facts of erecting a fence, payment of taxes, and uncontradicted testimony regarding the parol gift to Richard Dean from his grandmother established a claim of ownership.

2. <u>The Chancellor Erroneously Concluded that Richard Dean's Possession of</u> <u>the Subject Property Was Not Hostile, and that the Defendants/Appellees</u> <u>Were Not Aware of Said Possession</u>

In order to gain a possessory interest in real property by adverse possession, the party asserting said interest must prove that his possession of the subject property was hostile. *Apperson*, 950 So. 2d 1113, 1116 (Miss. App. 2007). As stated by the Mississippi Supreme Court, the Mississippi Legislature enacted the adverse possession statute to resolve the problem of inattentive landowners who ignore their property over long periods of time. *Buford*, 832 So. 2d 594, 601 (Miss. App. 2002); citing *Clanton v. Hathorn*, 600 So. 2d 963, 966 (Miss. 1992). Further, *Double J. Farmlands, Inc. v. Paradise Baptist Church*, as cited by the Chancellor, states that an adverse

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