IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER: 2009-CA-01793

RICHARD DEAN

PLAINTIFF / APPELLANT

VERSUS

KATIE C. SLADE, L. GUY JACKSON JAN DEAN, and FLORA S. NICHOLS RAGAN **DEFENDANTS / APPELLEES**

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2006-1049 JB

BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS / APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

John M. Kinard (MSB# Kevin M. Melchi (MSB# DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC 734 Delmas Avnue P.O. Box 1618 Pascagoula, MS 39568

Phone: (228) 762-2272 Fax: (228) 762-3223

Attorneys for Defendants / Appellees Katie C. Slade, L. Guy Jackson, and Flora S. Nichols Ragan

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER: 2009-CA-01793

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendants believe that Plaintiff has wholly failed to establish adverse possession. First of all, he claims ownership based solely on a parol gift from his grandmother of her share. That share was as a tenant in common with a one-third (1/3) interest in the property. Therefore, even if such a gift occurred, Plaintiff is at most a tenant in common of the property with Defendants Slade, Jackson, and Ragan.

Because of the parties' status as alleged tenants in common, Plaintiff has a much higher burden to prove adverse possession than a normal adverse possession case. He first must prove ouster of the co-tenants, which he has not done. He must prove by clear and convincing evidence notice to Defendants that he was taking actions hostile to their co-tenancy. Plaintiff relies on paying taxes, repairing a fence, and allowing people to operate ATV's on the land as sufficient. However, the law is clear that paying taxes by the party in possession is in fact consistent with co-tenancy, not hostile. The acts of repairing a fence and allowing others to use the land is in no way inconsistent with co-tenancy. As tenants in common, all parties in ownership have the right to use the land as their own. To constitute ouster and adverse possession, Plaintiff must show that his actions were so hostile as to deprive Defendants of their use of the land. This was not done. No structures were built, the land was not cleared for cultivation or the trees removed for timber. Nothing perceptible to the senses of someone driving by the property would alert them to adverse possession, regardless of the standard being applied. Plaintiff simply did not take sufficient action.

Plaintiff's tax payment argument wholly fails due to his purposefully allowing them to lapse in 2002 and 2003. One who truly believes he owns property does not allow the taxes to go unpaid so he himself can redeem the property at a tax sale and avoid the probate procedure required by law.

The very purpose of adverse possession is to grant title to one who believes the property to be his or her own and has openly used it according to that belief of ownership. Plaintiff knew he was not the rightful owner and attempted to scheme his way into ownership. Further proof that Plaintiff knew he was not the rightful owner are the multiple attempts to acquire the interests of Defendants Jackson and Slade. One does not seek to buy interests of land they believe to be their own.

This Court gives great deference to the decisions of a Chancellor sitting as the finder of fact. Plaintiff has put forth nothing in his brief that proves the Chancellor was manifestly wrong or applied an incorrect legal standard. Plaintiff was required to prove each element of adverse possession by clear and convincing evidence, a high threshold indeed. The Chancellor heard the testimony and was in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses in all areas of disputed testimony. This Court has nothing before it that demonstrates error by the Chancellor and that Plaintiff proved each element by clear and convincing evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The Chancellor's findings of fact may only be disturbed if she abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied the wrong legal standard. *Williams v. King*, 860 So.2d 847, 849 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003) (citing *Denson v. George*, 642 So.2d 909, 913 (Miss. 1994)). "It is not the job of this Court to redetermine questions of fact resolved by the chancellor." *Id.* (citing *Johnson v. Black*, 469 So.2d 88, 90 (Miss. 1985)). "If the record contains substantial, credible evidence to support the findings of fact made in chancery court, this Court will not reverse the chancellor's decision." *Id.*

The elements of adverse possession are well established. The claimant must prove the possession of the property was: (1) under claim of ownership; (2) actual and hostile; (3) open, notorious, and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful. *Buford v. Logue*, 832 So.2d 594, 600 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002) (citations omitted). "To succeed on a claim of adverse possession, the claimant has the burden to prove **each element by clear and convincing evidence**." *Id* at 600 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Clear and convincing evidence has been defined as:

that weight of proof which produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, direct and weighty and convincing as to enable the fact finder to come to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts of the case.

Hospital Housekeeping Systems, Inc. v. Townsend, 993 So.2d 418, 426 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008) (citations omitted). "Clear and convincing evidence is such a high standard that even the

overwhelming weight of the evidence does not rise to the same level." *Id.* The clear and convincing standard is obviously a high burden, certainly much greater then a preponderance of the evidence. Defendants must meet this burden as to each and every factor in the adverse possession analysis. If this Court harbors any doubt or hesitancy about whether the burden is met as to any element, the Chancery Court must be upheld.

II. Plaintiff Did Not Possess The Property Under A Claim Of Ownership

A. Plaintiff's interest, if any, was as a co-tenant in common

Plaintiff asserts that he owned this land due to a parol gift from his grandmother, Fannie Louise Voitier. (Appellants' Brief at 9). This gift allegedly occurred in 1993. (T. at 12). However, the undisputed facts of the case are that Ms. Voitier had only a one-third (1/3) interest in the property as a tenant in common until her death in 2000. (R. at 41-45). At that time, her interest passed to defendant Jan Dean. (R. at 41-45). "It is well established that one who purchases or obtains by conveyance the undivided share of a tenant in common becomes a cotenant with the remaining owner or owners." *Anderson v. Boyd*, 229 Miss. 596, 91 So.2d 537, 541 (Miss. 1956) (*citing* 86 C.J.S., Tenancy In Common, § 8b; *Howard v. Wactor*, Miss. 1949, 41 So.2d 259). As Plaintiff points out in his brief, Ms. Slade testified that Plaintiff "said that he had his **grandmother's interest**." (T. at 92, emphasis added). Therefore, even if this were a valid parol gift, Plaintiff was entitled to only a one-third (1/3) share of the property and his claim of ownership under this theory is only to that share. His grandmother could not pass a different share than she possessed. *See Wilder v. Currie*, 231 Miss. 461, 473, 95 So.2d 563, 566 (1957) (citations omitted).

Plaintiff cites to the cases of *Chatman v. Carter*, 209 Miss. 16, 45 So.2d 841 (1950), and *Davis v. Davis*, 68 Miss. 478, 10 So. 70 (1891) for the proposition that "a parol gift accompanied

by possession of the land for ten years confers title by adverse possession." (Appellant's Brief at 10). However, the grantors at issue in both *Chatman* and *Davis*, unlike what Plaintiff asserts of his grandmother, conveyed only that interest that they themselves had. Also, Plaintiff fails to prove that a parol gift of any interest took place. The claimant in *Chatman* produced five deeds of trust and timber deeds evidencing the alleged parol gift, and this Court deemed even that insufficient to show a parol gift followed by adverse possession. 45 So.2d at 843-44. In the case at bar, we have only the hearsay statement of Plaintiff that it was given to him by his grandmother, without any other proof. (T. at 12).

In short, there is not sufficient evidence to demonstrate that a parol gift of any interest was ever made from Ms. Voitier to Plaintiff. However, even if such a gift were made, that interest could only be what she herself possessed, which was a one-third (1/3) share as a tenant in common.

B. Plaintiff paying taxes did not assert ownership

Defendants do not dispute that the payment of taxes is one issue that may be considered in determining whether property has been adversely possessed. However, it is far from dispositive. *Buford*, 832 So.2d at 602 (citing *Geoghegan v. Kraus*, 228 Miss. 231, 240, 87 So.2d 461, 465 (1956)). "Payment of taxes alone will not ripen a defective possession into title." *Buford*, 832 So.2d at 602 (citing *Leavenworth v. Reeves*, 106 Miss. 722, 64 So. 660, 661-62 (1914)). In fact, the two cases specifically cited by Plaintiff to support his argument that the Chancellor erred both found in favor of the party who did **not** pay the taxes. *See Buford*, 832 So.2d 594; *Apperson v. White*, 950 So.2d 1113 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007) (title holder who payed taxes lost possession of property to adverse possessor); *See also Webb v. Drewery*, 4 So.3d 1078 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009). Therefore, the fact that Plaintiff paid taxes on the land for a period of time is not conclusive of ownership and is to be given

no extra weight by this Court.

The Chancellor also correctly noted that the tax notices that Plaintiff paid were actually still in the name of Ms. Voitier and were simply mailed to his attention. (R. at 46). This, of course, is logical since she was the last survivor of the three tenants in common who took title to the land from Louise B. Cox. Plaintiff's grandmother did not pass away until 2000, so all taxes paid before that time were technically paid on her behalf, not that of Plaintiff. Plaintiff cannot insert himself into the position of that person in whose name the taxes are being paid simply because he sent the check.

It also is important that Plaintiff stopped paying taxes in 2002 in a sly attempt to gain title out from under Defendants through a tax sale. This action dooms his claim for adverse possession. First of all, it is not the act of someone possessing the property under a claim of ownership. If one truly believes property is theirs, there certainly is no need to allow the taxes to lapse in an attempt to redeem the property at a tax sale. A second problem for Plaintiff as an alleged co-ten is that Mississippi law is clear that a redemption of property at a tax sale is for the benefit of all parties.

A co-tenant in possession is under a duty to pay the taxes but failing in that has a duty to redeem from the tax sale for the benefit of all of the tenants, in common, and he cannot purchase any interest adverse to them, and a purchase of an outstanding tax title by a tenant in common inures to the benefit of all tenants the cost of the redemption being a common charge against the property held in common.

Wilder, 231 Miss. at 476, 95 So.2d at 568 (citing Howard v. Wactor, 41 So.2d at 261). As a tenant in common who allowed the taxes to lapse, Plaintiff had an obligation to redeem for all owners. These are not the actions of someone who believes he owns the property, and can only be one of two things: an attempt to take property out from under the co-tenants, or an attempt to subvert the Chancery Court's vital role in the distribution of one's assets after they have passed. In addition, it is undisputed that Defendant Slade redeemed those taxes for 2002, which itself is an act of

ownership over the land as a co-tenant and interrupts the ten year minimum. (T. at 99).

Perhaps most importantly, the paying of taxes never amounts to an act sufficient to adversely possess land from a co-tenant because it is insufficient to create an ouster. "Evidence of acts by a cotenant not inconsistent with cotenancy, such as using the land and paying taxes on it, do not constitute an ouster of the other cotenants." *Frazier v. Frazier*, 2009 WL 1298413 *2 (Miss.Ct.App.) (citing *Campbell v. Dedeaux*, 386 So.2d 713, 715 (Miss. 1980)). Because Plaintiff, at most, was only a co-tenant of the land, simply paying the taxes is not sufficient to claim adverse possession.

C. Plaintiff knew he was not the titleholder of the land

The record in this case is filled with evidence that Plaintiff knew he was not the sole owner of this property. At trial he testified that upon his grandmother's passing in 2000 he was fully aware that he did not have title. (T. at 35). The testimony also shows that Plaintiff discussed with Defendants Slade and Jackson the possibility of buying the shares of the other. Defendant Jackson testified that he had six or eight conversations with Plaintiff about purchasing Defendant Slade's share. (T. at 71). The first of these conversations took place in 1997 and the last took place in 2005. (T. at 71-73). Plaintiff was unable to refute this assertion, saying he just did not remember if he and Jackson discussed buying Defendant Slade's interest. (T. at 51).

Defendant Slade also had conversations with Plaintiff that clearly made him aware of her ownership. First of all, Plaintiff approached her in 1994 about buying out Defendant Jackson, and she expressed her desire to sell her share. (T. at 92). Plaintiff himself testified that Defendant Slade challenged his ownership of the land in 1995. (T. at 25-26). Defendant Slade also testified that she and Plaintiff had more than eight conversations regarding the ownership of the property. (T. at 101).

Defendant Slade testified definitively that she asserted her interest in the land to Plaintiff and told him repeatedly that she and Defendant Jackson were co-tenants in the land. (T. at 103, 107-8). These conversations occurred repeatedly until at least the late 1990's. (T. at 107-8).

It strains the bounds of logic to argue that someone who believes they are the rightful owner of property would attempt to buy other interests in that same land. It would not happen and Plaintiff's attempts to do so demonstrate his knowledge of the interests of Defendants in the land as co-tenants.

D. The fence on the property did not establish ownership

"The mere presence of a fence, without more, has never been sufficient to sustain a claim of adverse possession." *Double J Farmlands, Inc. v. Paradise Baptist Church,* 999 So.2d 826, 829 (Miss. 2009). Plaintiff asserts in his brief that the fence on the property is proof of his claim of ownership over the land, but he is mistaken. First of all, the fence was present prior to his alleged possession:

Q. So in 1993 you felt like you had some type of an interest. What did you do based on that?

A. ...I posted it and posted signs with my name and number up, if any fences needed any type of repair, that type of thing....

(T. at 12). Clearly the fence was already in place when the supposed adverse possession began so it could not be proof of any act of ownership. Plaintiff is not making a claim that his adverse possession began prior to 1993. Therefore, the only way a fence could constitute notice is if it were erected after that date. If Plaintiff was rebuilding or repairing a fence already present and placed there by Defendants' predecessors in title it cannot be notice of an adverse claim, and if not built by Plaintiff cannot be an act of ownership.

Second, the fence as it currently exists only encloses three sides of the property, so it is not

clear to anyone viewing the land exactly what is supposedly being adversely possessed. (T. at 31). The Chancellor correctly noted that a fence alone is not sufficient to sustain a claim of ownership. (R. at 46). In this case, since there is no evidence the fence was surrounding the entire property for a ten year period, it certainly was not "sufficient to fly the flag over the land and put the true owner upon notice that his land is held under an adverse claim of ownership." *Snowden & McSweeny Co.* v. *Hanley*, 195 Miss. 682, 687, 16 So.2d 24, 25 (1943) (quoting 1 Am.Jur. p. 870).

Finally, because Defendants were co-tenants of the land, there is nothing inconsistent with their co-tenancy to place a fence on the land. Co-tenants with equal access and shared use of the property also equally share in the benefit of improvements. A fence on three sides of the property is not sufficient to constitute an ouster and make co-tenants aware that another party is making an adverse claim to the property.

E. Conclusion

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